CASE #. S244630

**CASE NO.**

---

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

---

**OTO, LLC, AN ARIZONA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY, DBA  
ONE TOYOTA OF OAKLAND, ONE SCION OF OAKLAND,**

*Plaintiff and Appellant.*

v.

**KEN KHO,**

*Real Party in Interest,*

v.

**JULIE A. SU IN HER OFFICIAL CAPACITY AS THE STATE OF  
CALIFORNIA LABOR COMMISSIONER, DIVISION OF LABOR  
STANDARDS ENFORCEMENT, DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRIAL  
RELATIONS, STATE OF CALIFORNIA,**

*Intervenor and Appellant.*

---

**AFTER DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL  
FIRST APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION 1  
CASE NO. A147564**

**ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT  
FOR THE COUNTY OF ALAMEDA  
CASE NUMBER RG15781961

## I. ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether, in light of this Court’s decision in *Sonic-Calabasas A, Inc. v. Moreno* (2013) 57 Cal.4th 1109 (*Sonic II*), holding that any arbitration agreement must be “accessible and affordable,” a procedurally unconscionable arbitration provision is also substantively unconscionable where it removes the protections and advantages of the Berman hearings and it also imposes all heightened obligations of civil litigation which significantly burdens individual wage claimants?

## II. INTRODUCTION

### **Why Review Should Be Granted:**

This Court issued its decision in *Sonic II*, holding that an employer could establish an arbitration procedure as a substitute for the Berman hearing process for Labor Commissioner claims, provided that procedure was “accessible and affordable.” *Sonic II* left to the lower courts to individually address whether an arbitration agreement was “accessible and affordable.” The court below found that Mr. Kho, the wage claimant, was forced to sign the arbitration agreement in what the court described as a “degree of procedural unconscionability [which] was extraordinarily high.” (*OTO, LLC v. Ken Kho* (Cal. Ct. App. 2017), Case No. A147564 (“Op.”), Op. at p. 14.)<sup>1</sup> The Labor Commissioner is also filing a Petition for Review.

The court below, however, found that the arbitration agreement was not substantively unconscionable because it afforded all the rights and responsibilities of civil litigation which are significant burdens on individual wage claimants. In effect, the court decision encourages every

---

<sup>1</sup> 14 Cal.App.5th 691. All citations hereinafter are to the version attached as Exhibit A. The Opinion of the court below is attached as Exhibit A to this Petition. No Petition for Rehearing was filed. The Opinion has been published.

employer in California to impose an arbitration agreement to avoid Berman hearings, which agreement is decidedly unfavorable to wage claimants and decidedly much more favorable to employers.

The arbitration agreement has both sides of the coin of unconscionability. It not only deprives employees of the protection and advantages of the Berman process, it imposes the complicated and expensive burdens of civil litigation into the arbitration process.

The decision of the court below undermines this Court's Decision in *Sonic II*. Thus, the issue presented is important and warrants review to effectuate the Court's requirement that a substitute procedure for the Berman hearing be both "accessible and affordable."

### **III. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED**

The Opinion of the Court below allows an employer to establish an arbitration agreement which eviscerates the protection and advantages of the Berman hearing. The Opinion additionally allows an employer to impose the significant burdens and disadvantages of civil litigation on an individual wage claimant. This Court went to great lengths in *Sonic II* to preserve the Berman hearing process before the Labor Commissioner or in an "affordable and accessible" alternative arbitration process.

This Court should grant review otherwise this published Opinion will be a roadmap for all California employers to prevent employees from bringing wage claims in any meaningful forum. Employers will institute arbitration agreements to leave wage claimants without an accessible and financially attainable procedure to enforce their state wage and hour rights. Left untouched, this Opinion will lead to the substantial weakening of California's wage and hour laws because they will become effectively unenforceable.

In *Sonic II*, this Court was careful not to lay out exactly what an arbitration agreement would contain in order to be “affordable and accessible.” The court below read this Court’s lack of specific direction to approve an agreement which eliminates the advantages and protections of the Berman process and simultaneously imposes the burdens and barriers of civil litigation.

This Court should grant review to forestall what is likely to be a rush by employers to eliminate their responsibilities under California wage and hour laws by unilaterally and unfairly implementing a similar arbitration procedure. The purpose of such an agreement will be the opposite of arbitration which is supposed “to promote not undermine, the speed, economy, informality, and efficiency of dispute resolution...” (*Sonic II*, *supra*, 57 Cal.4th at p. 1151.)

In *Sonic II* this Court avoided setting the parameters of what type of arbitration agreement would be considered “accessible and affordable.” The employer, OTO, LLC dba One Toyota of Oakland, One Scion of Oakland (“OTO”) took advantage of this vagueness and the court below undermined what this Court accomplished in *Sonic II*.

It is no exaggeration that copycat arbitration agreements will lead to the destruction of the Berman process and the significant erosion of the practical enforceability of California’s storied wage and hour laws.

#### IV. **BACKGROUND**

There are no factual disputes. The disputed arbitration agreement is attached as an exhibit to the Opinion. It is in small font and hard to read. (Op. at pp. 24-25.) That was part of OTO’s purpose which rendered it procedurally unconscionable and contributes to its substantive

unconscionability. The following description is adopted largely from the Opinion below.

Mr. Kho worked as an auto mechanic for OTO from January 2010 through April 2014, when his employment was terminated. Several months later, in October 2014, Kho filed a wage claim with the Labor Commissioner.

In November 2014, Kho and OTO participated in an unsuccessful settlement conference, mediated by a deputy labor commissioner. The parties continued settlement discussions for the following month, until, in mid-December, OTO requested that the commissioner's office forward a proposed settlement agreement to Kho. After Kho decided not to accept the offer, he requested a statutory "Berman hearing" on his claim.

On January 30, 2015, the Labor Commissioner notified OTO of Kho's request, and in March the hearing was scheduled for the following August.

On the morning of the Berman hearing, a Monday, OT's attorney faxed a letter to the Labor Commissioner's office, requesting that the hearing be taken off calendar because OTO had filed a petition to compel arbitration and stay the administrative proceedings on the prior Friday. By return fax, the commissioner's office informed counsel that the hearing would proceed as scheduled. At the appointed time, counsel for OTO appeared, served Kho with the petition to compel and stay proceedings, and left. The Hearing Officer proceeded with the hearing in OTO's absence and later issued a detailed and extensive "Order,

Decision, or Award” (ODA) finding Kho was entitled to \$102,912 in unpaid wages and \$55,634 in liquidated damages, interest, and penalties.

OTO thereafter sought de novo review of the ODA in the trial court pursuant to Labor Code section 98.2, posting the requisite bond to secure payment of the award. At the same time, OTO supplemented its petition to compel arbitration with the filing of a motion to vacate the ODA. By stipulation, the Labor Commissioner was allowed to intervene in the trial court proceedings.

The trial court denied the employer’s Petition to Compel Arbitration. The trial court found that there was “a high level of procedural unconscionability connected with the execution of the arbitration agreement in this case.” (Op. at p. 5.)

The Court of Appeal affirmed the finding of the trial court in strong language that Mr. Kho’s signing of the arbitration agreement was procedurally unconscionable given the forceful manner in which he was required to sign the agreement, in effect as “a condition of his employment.” (Op. at p. 13.) “The circumstances of Kho’s execution of the Agreement demonstrated a high degree of oppression.” (Op. at p. 13.) “For these reasons, we conclude that the degree of procedural unconscionability was extraordinarily high.” (Op. at p. 14.)

The court below, however, found that the arbitration agreement was not substantively unconscionable and reversed the trial court, vacated the ODA and remanded for purposes of compelling arbitration.

V. **ARGUMENT WHY THE PETITION FOR REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED**

A. **THE BERMAN PROCEDURES PROVIDE BENEFITS AND PROTECTIONS THAT THE ARBITRATION PROCESS ELIMINATES**

In *Sonic II*, this Court extensively addressed the question of whether an arbitration agreement preempted the provisions of the Berman hearings, allowing wage claimants to bring their claims before the Labor Commissioner in an informal process. The Court was required to address this a second time because its earlier decision in *Sonic-Calabasas A, Inc. v. Moreno* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 659 (*Sonic I*) was reversed by the Supreme Court in light of *AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion* (2011) 563 U.S. 333 (*Concepcion*).

This Court need only reference its careful and extended analysis in *Sonic II*. This Court concluded that California state courts could continue to enforce unconscionability rules with respect to arbitration agreements which undermine the Berman process.

The Court emphasized the informality and favorable provisions of the Berman hearing in *Sonic II*. It did so reaffirming that the state could create a procedural mechanism to enforce wage and hour laws that protected and favored the wage claimant. To detail the import of the Berman hearing process and related statutory protections to workers' ability to enforce wage claims, the Court initially summarized the "statutory protections [who] which benefit employees who have wage claims against their employers:"

In *Sonic I, supra*, 51 Cal.4th 659, we explained how Berman hearings and related statutory protections benefit employees with wage claims against their employers: "If an employer fails to pay wages in the amount, time or manner required by contract or by statute, the employee

has two principal options. The employee may seek judicial relief by filing an ordinary civil action against the employer for breach of contract and/or for the wages prescribed by statute. (§§ 218, 1194.) Or the employee may seek administrative relief by filing a wage claim with the commissioner pursuant to a special statutory scheme codified in sections 98 to 98.8. The latter option was added by legislation enacted in 1976 (Stats. 1976, ch. 1190, §§ 4–11, pp. 5368–5371) and is commonly known as the “Berman” hearing procedure after the name of its sponsor.’

(*Sonic II, supra*, 57 Cal.4th at pp. 1127-1128.)

The Court went on, in great detail, to describe those protections and benefits available to employees in the Berman hearings. (*Sonic II, supra*, 57 Cal.4th at pp. 1128-1130.) The Court then summarized all these advantages as follows:

In sum, the Berman statutes provide important benefits to employees by reducing the costs and risks of pursuing a wage claim in several ways. First, the Berman hearing itself provides an accessible, informal, and affordable mechanism for laypersons to seek resolution of such claims. (See *Cuadra v. Millan* (1998) 17 Cal.4th 855, 858 [72 Cal.Rptr.2d 687, 952 P.2d 704] (*Cuadra*).) Second, section 98.2, subdivision (c) discourages unmeritorious appeals of Berman hearing awards by providing that a party who unsuccessfully appeals an award must pay the other party's costs and attorney fees. (citation omitted). Third, section 98.2, subdivision (c) provides that an employee will not be saddled with the employer's attorney fees and costs unless the employee appeals from a Berman hearing award and receives a judgment of zero on appeal. This rule differs from section 218.5, which provides for attorney fees for the “prevailing party” in wage actions initiated in the superior court. Fourth, section 98.4 provides that a wage claimant who is “financially unable to afford counsel” may be represented by the commissioner in the event the employer appeals and “shall” be represented by the commissioner

if the employee seeks to uphold a Berman hearing award. Fifth, the Berman statutes ensure that an employee will actually collect a judgment or award by mandating that the Labor Commissioner use her best efforts to collect a Berman hearing award and by requiring the employer to post an undertaking for the amount of the award if it takes an appeal. (See *Sonic I, supra*, 51 Cal.4th at p. 674; § 98.2, subds. (b), (e), (i).) Finally, the Berman process ensures that employees have assistance in resolving their claims, including the use of a translator if needed. (§ 105.)

In considering whether a Berman waiver violates public policy, *Sonic I* first reviewed the law governing mandatory employment arbitration agreements, i.e., arbitration agreements that are conditions of new or continuing employment. As we explained, “[i]n *Armendariz, supra*, 24 Cal.4th 83, we concluded that such agreements were enforceable, provided they did not contain features that were contrary to public policy or unconscionable. (*Id.* at p. 99.) We concluded that ‘arbitration agreements cannot be made to serve as a vehicle for the waiver of [unwaivable] statutory rights,’ such as rights under the California Fair Employment and Housing Act (FEHA ...). To ensure that such waiver did not occur, we held that arbitrations addressing such statutory rights would be subject to certain minimal requirements. As we later summarized these: ‘(1) the arbitration agreement may not limit the damages normally available under the statute (*Armendariz, supra*, 24 Cal.4th at p. 103); (2) there must be discovery “sufficient to adequately arbitrate their statutory claim” (*id.* at p. 106); (3) there must be a written arbitration decision and judicial review “ ‘sufficient to ensure the arbitrators comply with the requirements of the statute’ ” (*ibid.*); and (4) the employer must “pay all types of costs that are unique to arbitration” (*id.* at p. 113).’ (citation omitted .) We did not hold that the above requirements were the only conditions that public policy could place on arbitration agreements, and have since recognized other limitations.

(citation omitted.)” (*Sonic I, supra*, 51 Cal.4th at p. 677, citation omitted.)

(*Id.* at pp. 1129-1131.)

As to the Berman procedures’ primary role of protecting workers’ ability to feasibly bring wage claims, the Court further noted:

We went on to explain: “Although the statutory protections that the Berman hearing and the posthearing procedures afford employees were added piecemeal over a number of years, their common purpose is evident: Given the dependence of the average worker on prompt payment of wages, the Legislature has devised the Berman hearing and posthearing process as a means of affording an employee with a meritorious wage claim certain advantages, chiefly designed to reduce the costs and risks of pursuing a wage claim, recognizing that such costs and risks could prevent a theoretical right from becoming a reality. These procedures, including the employer undertaking and the one-way fee provision, also deter employers from unjustifiably prolonging a wage dispute by filing an unmeritorious appeal. This statutory regime therefore furthers the important and long-recognized public purpose of ensuring that workers are paid wages owed. The public benefit of the Berman procedures, therefore, is not merely incidental to the legislation’s primary purpose but in fact central to that purpose. Nor can there be any doubt that permitting employers to require employees, as a condition of employment, to waive their right to a Berman hearing would seriously undermine the efficacy of the Berman hearing statutes and hence thwart the public purpose behind the statutes.” (*Sonic I, supra*, 51 Cal.4th at p. 679.)

(*Sonic II, supra*, 57 Cal.4th at pp. 1131-1132, fn. omitted.)

This Court recognized that the arbitration procedure makes financially unattainable the numerous procedural, remedial and enforcement benefits and protections the Labor Commissioner process affords, concluding that

We therefore concluded that “an employee going directly to arbitration will lose a number of benefits and advantages. He or she will not benefit from the Labor Commissioner's settlement efforts and expertise. He or she must pay for his or her own attorney whether or not he or she is able to afford it an attorney who may not have the expertise of the Labor Commissioner. Moreover, what matters to the employee is not a favorable arbitration award per se but the enforcement of that award, and an employee going directly to arbitration will have no special advantage obtaining such enforcement. Nor is there any guaranty that the employee will not be responsible for any successful employer's attorney fees, for under section 218.5, an employee who proceeds directly against an employer with a wage claim not preceded by a Berman hearing will be liable for such fees if the employer prevails on appeal. In short, the Berman hearing process, even when followed by binding arbitration, provides on the whole substantially lower costs and risks to the employee, greater deterrence of frivolous employer claims, and greater assurance that awards will be collected, than does the binding arbitration process alone.” (*Sonic I, supra*, at p. 681, fns. omitted.)

(*Sonic II, supra*, 57 Cal.4th at pp. 1132-1133.)

This Court recognized that the Supreme Court “granted certiorari in this case, vacated the judgment, and remanded the case to this court for consideration in light of *AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion* (2011) 563 U.S. 333.” (*Sonic II, supra*, 57 Cal.4th at p. 1124.) This Court, recognizing the scope of *Concepcion*, then held that *Sonic I* was improperly decided because it categorically rejected any arbitration procedure as a substitute for the Berman hearing.

**B. SONIC II ESTABLISHED THAT ANY SUBSTITUTE PROCEDURES TO THE BERMAN PROCESS MUST BE “AFFORDABLE AND ACCESSIBLE”**

This Court, in language carefully crafted to respond to the important principles behind the Berman hearings, which it had taken great lengths to explain originally in *Sonic I*, and then restate in *Sonic II* in light of the tension created by *Concepcion*, stated in relevant part:

But the waivability of a Berman hearing in favor of arbitration does not end the unconscionability inquiry. The Berman statutes include various features designed to lower the costs and risks for employees in pursuing wage claims, including procedural informality, assistance of a translator, use of an expert adjudicator who is authorized to help the parties by questioning witnesses and explaining issues and terms, and provisions on fee shifting, mandatory undertaking, and assistance of the Labor Commissioner as counsel to help employees defend and enforce any award on appeal. Waiver of these protections does not necessarily render an arbitration agreement unenforceable, nor does it render an arbitration agreement unconscionable per se. But waiver of these protections in the context of an agreement that does not provide an employee with an accessible and affordable arbitral forum for resolving wage disputes may support a finding of unconscionability. As with any contract, the unconscionability inquiry requires a court to examine the totality of the agreement's substantive terms as well as the circumstances of its formation to determine whether the overall bargain was unreasonably one-sided. In the present case, we remand to the trial court to conduct this fact-specific inquiry.

(*Sonic II*, *supra*, 57 Cal.4th at p. 1146.)

This Court created a formulation which it commanded the lower courts to apply in determining whether an arbitration procedure is substantively unconscionable:

Rather, in the context of a standard contract of adherence setting forth conditions of employment, the unconscionability inquiry focuses on whether the arbitral scheme imposes costs and risks on a wage claimant that make the resolution of the wage dispute inaccessible and unaffordable, and thereby “effectively blocks every forum for the redress of disputes, including arbitration itself.” (*Gutierrez, supra*, 114 Cal.App.4th at p. 90.)

(*Sonic II, supra*, 57 Cal.4th at p. 1148.)

It is the phrase “accessible and affordable” that runs throughout this Court’s opinion as shorthand for the greater inquiry which a court must make as to the unconscionability of an arbitration procedure.

The Court reemphasized the necessity that the arbitration procedure be “affordable and accessible for wage claimants.” The phrase including grammatical variations was used 14 times in the majority opinion.

(*Sonic II, supra*, 57 Cal.4th at pp. 1128-1129, 1146-1149, 1150, 1154-1155, 1158 [e.g., “[A]dhesive [A]rbitration [A]greement [must] provide for accessible, affordable resolution of wage disputes.” *Id.* at p. 1150.].) This Court also added the word “informality” into the phrasing nine times. (*Id.* at pp. 1128-1129, 1147, 1149, 1154-1155.) The arbitration procedure which OTO imposed is the very opposite of the concept of “informality.”

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