No. S244630

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

OTO, LLC an Arizona Limited Liability Company, *dba* ONE TOYOTA OF OAKLAND, ONE SCION OF OAKLAND

Petitioner in Superior Court, Appellant and Cross-Respondent,

v.

KEN KHO

Respondent in Superior Court and Real Party in Interest,

JULIE A. SU IN HER OFFICIAL CAPACITY AS THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA LABOR COMMISSIONER, DIVISION OF LABOR STANDARDS ENFORCEMENT, DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS, STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Intervenor, Respondent and Cross-Appellant.

After decision by the Court of Appeal, First Appellate District, Division 1 Case No. A147564

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

Neither of the Petitions for Review filed by Kho and the Labor Commissioner makes any effort to suggest that there is a lack of uniformity among lower courts on the issues addressed in the Court of Appeal decision. In <u>Sonic II</u>, which involved an arbitration agreement identical in all material respects to the agreement signed by Kho in the present case, this Court instructed the Court of Appeal to remand to the trial court to determine whether the arbitration agreement unconscionable under the principles set forth in the opinion. (<u>Sonic II</u>, 57 Cal.4th at 1125.) Since that time, no published opinion other than the Court of Appeal's decision in this case has construed whether a Berman waiver in an arbitration agreement is unconscionable under the standards enunciated in <u>Sonic II</u>. Similarly, the Labor Commissioner fails to cite to *any* reported appellate decision discussing the Labor Commissioner's power—or lack thereof—to conduct a Berman hearing once a petition is filed in the superior court to compel arbitration of the wage claim.

Such lack of any other appellate authority—conflicting or otherwise—on the issues presented in the Petitions for Review means the only basis upon which Kho and the Labor Commissioner would have this Court exercise its discretionary jurisdiction is the suggestion that there is an important-but-unresolved question of law involved. However, there is no such issue that requires this Court's attention on these facts. Based on the undisputed facts presented in the trial court, the Court of Appeal made a factual evaluation of the parties' arbitration agreement and concluded that the agreement was not substantively unconscionable under the standard of <u>Sonic II</u>, "which requires enforcement of a Berman hearing waiver if the arbitration clause provides an 'accessible and affordable arbitral forum.'" (*See <u>OTO, LLC v. Kho, supra, 14 Cal.App.5th at 709.</u>) Finding that the agreement provided an arbitration procedure similar to civil litigation, the Court of Appeal held "nothing in the proceeding required by the Agreement that would cause it to be inaccessible to an employee." (<u>Id., 14 Cal.App.5th at 712.</u>)*

Likewise, based on the undisputed procedural facts of this case, the Court of Appeal determined that One Toyota's delay in asserting its right to arbitrate did not waive it right to avoid a Berman hearing, where the petition to compel arbitration was filed prior to the commencement of the Berman hearing, and the Labor Commissioner was notified of the pendency of that petition. "While it would have been preferable for One Toyota to have asserted its right to arbitration immediately upon the failure of settlement discussion in order to avoid inconvenience to Kho and the commissioner, inconvenience does not equal prejudice. . . . In the absence of prejudice, we cannot find One Toyota to have waived its right to assert the Agreement." (Id., 14 Cal.App.5th at 714-715.) Regardless, there was also record evidence that the issue of arbitration was initially raised and arbitration demanded months prior by One Toyota directly to the Labor

Commissioner and Kho at the informal settlement conference held under Labor Code Sec. 98 et seq. (*See* CT 00172.)

Just because Kho and the Labor Commissioner disagree with the results at which the Court of Appeal arrived does not make an issue addressed below an unsettled important question of law. Notably, despite their arguments that the arbitration procedure required by the agreement is not affordable and accessible, neither the Labor Commissioner nor Kho proffered any evidence in the trial court to substantiate the alleged burdens imposed by the arbitration agreement. Instead, their arguments at the trial court and in the Court of Appeal focused on the language of the agreement to speculate that arbitration would not be affordable and accessible.

Despite the absence of a record upon which to make an individual showing—much less a general showing applicable to all wage claimants—Kho and the Labor Commissioner seek review by the Supreme Court in an effort to obtain a blanket rule that would effectively preclude any Berman waiver as a matter of law and policy if the arbitration agreement effectuating that waiver did not essentially mimic the Berman procedure. Because this result cannot be justified by the facts in this records, and in light of this Court's refusal to undertake such speculation when faced with the same agreement in <u>Sonic II</u>, there is no basis upon which to grant the review requested.

II. By Requesting That This Court Revisit <u>Sonic II</u>, Kho and the Labor Commissioner Seek to Establish Restrictions on Arbitration Agreements Which Are Prohibited Under the Federal Arbitration Act and U.S. Supreme Court Authority.

The Petitions for Review seek to establish a rule, applicable only to arbitration agreements effectuating a Berman waiver, requiring such arbitration agreements to incorporate the specific requirements of the Berman process—this is the same argument made by the employee in <u>Sonic II</u> and rejected by this very Court in <u>Sonic II</u>. As a result, Kho and the Labor Commissioner would have this Court undermine the careful balance struck in <u>Sonic II</u> between the Federal Arbitration Act and the United States Supreme Court's decision in <u>AT&T Mobility LLC v.</u> <u>Concepcion</u> (2011) 563 U.S. 333 ("<u>AT&T Mobility</u>"), on the one hand, and the desire to provide wage claimants with an affordable and accessible forum, on the other hand.

In <u>Sonic-Calabasas A, Inc. v. Moreno</u> (2011) 51 Cal.4th 659 ("<u>Sonic I</u>"), this Court held that arbitration agreements effectuating a Berman waiver were unconscionable and contrary to public policy. (<u>Sonic I</u>, 51 Cal.4th at 686.) Despite this holding, "we did not invalidate the arbitration agreement. Instead, we held that an arbitration agreement may be enforced so long as arbitration is preceded by the option of a Berman hearing at the employee's request. If the employee chooses to have a Berman hearing, then the post-Berman hearing protections for employees would apply in arbitration." (<u>Sonic II</u>, 57 Cal.4th at 1135.)

The United States Supreme Court granted *certiorari* in <u>Sonic I</u> and remanded the case back to this Court for further consideration in light of <u>AT&T Mobility</u>, which held that the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA") categorically prevents states from holding arbitration agreements to stricter standards of enforceability than other contracts. On remand, this Court recognized that any categorical prohibition on waivers of Berman hearings as a condition of employment was prohibited by federal law, thereby upholding the legality of an agreement between an employee and employer to use the arbitral forum in place of Berman hearings. (<u>Sonic II</u>, 57 Cal.4th at 1142.) Agreements to arbitrate claims that would otherwise be adjudicated in Berman hearings before the Labor Commissioner may be lawfully enforced. (Sonic II, 57 Cal.4th at 1124.) "[A] court may not refuse to enforce an arbitration agreement imposed on an employee as a condition of employment simply because it requires the employee to bypass a Berman hearing." (Id.)

Sonic II struck a balance between the public policy embodied in the Berman process and the enforcement of arbitration agreements under the Federal Arbitration Act by making the waiver of the Berman process a factor to be considered in the substantive unconscionability analysis:

> But the waivability of a Berman hearing in favor of arbitration does not end the unconscionability inquiry. The Berman statutes include various features designed to lower the costs and risks for employees in pursuing wage claims, including procedural informality, assistance of a translator, use of an expert adjudicator who is authorized to help the parties by questioning witnesses and explaining issues and terms, and provisions on fee shifting, mandatory undertaking, and assistance of the Labor Commissioner as counsel to help employees defend and enforce any award on appeal. Waiver of these protections does not necessarily render an arbitration agreement unenforceable, nor does it render an arbitration agreement unconscionable per se. But waiver of these protections in the context of an agreement that does not provide an employee with an accessible and affordable arbitral forum for resolving wage disputes may support a finding of unconscionability. As with any contract, the unconscionability inquiry requires a court to examine the totality of the agreement's substantive terms as well as the circumstances of its formation to determine whether the overall bargain was unreasonably one-sided. In the present case, we remand to the trial court to conduct this fact-specific inquiry.

(Sonic II, 57 Cal.4th at 1146.)

Although Kho signed an arbitration agreement that is identical in all material respects to the agreement in <u>Sonic II</u>, the opposition to the petition to compel arbitration failed to include any evidence (other than the agreement itself) to meet his burden of proof on unconscionability.

Thus, the Petitions for Review place this Court exactly in the same position as <u>Sonic II</u>: the same arbitration agreement with an undeveloped record on the fact-specific inquiry needed to sustain the opposing party's burden of proof on unconscionability. Given <u>Sonic II</u>'s guidance on the unconscionability analysis, the failure of Kho and/or the Labor Commissioner to present such evidence to the trial court dooms their Petitions for Review.

If this Court were to accept review in the absence of the factspecific inquiry that the Court deemed necessary in <u>Sonic II</u>, and establish the blanket rule sought by Kho and the Labor Commissioner, the likely consequence would be a further rebuke by the United States Supreme Court for once again holding arbitration agreements to stricter standards of enforceability than other contracts in violation of the Federal Arbitration Act and <u>AT&T Mobility</u>. As a result, the Petitions for Review must be denied.

III. To the Extant That The Court of Appeal Erred in its Published Decision, It Did So By Failing to Unequivocally Address the Labor Commissioner's Role Where a Petition to Compel Arbitration Is Filed Prior to the Commencement of a Berman Hearing.

As noted above, the Labor Commissioner has failed to articulate any valid basis upon which this Court should grant the review or the relief she seeks. She has not explained how there is any significant unsettled issue of law that is presented. Moreover, as the Court of Appeal determined that the issue of the Labor Commissioner's jurisdiction was rendered moot in light of the court's reversal of the order denying the petition to compel arbitration, there is no controversy ripe for review by this Court.

However, if this Court determines that review is appropriate, such review should be limited to delineating the Labor Commissioner's role when given notice of the filing of a petition to compel arbitration of a pending wage claim. In light of the Labor Commissioner's "race to the courthouse" posture in this case, in which she refused to allow the petition to compel arbitration to be decided by the court before conducting the Berman hearing, the Court of Appeal should have enunciated a clear rule for employers, employees and the Labor Commissioner to follow, that the filing of a petition to compel arbitration, coupled with notice to the Labor Commissioner delivered prior to the commencement of the Berman hearing, stays the Berman hearing proceedings until such time as the petition to compel arbitration is resolved by the courts.

If Kho would have been in a Superior Court with his wage claims (instead of before the Labor Commissioner), which he also has the right to do, Code of Civil Procedure section 1281.4 would have required a stay as soon as Petition to Compel Arbitration was filed with any Superior Court in the State. Code of Civil Procedure section 1281.4, in pertinent part, states:

> If a court of competent jurisdiction, whether in this State or not, has ordered arbitration of a controversy which is an issue involved in an action or proceeding pending before a court of this State, the court in which such action or proceeding is pending shall, upon motion of a party to such action or proceeding, stay the action or proceeding until an arbitration is had in

accordance with the order to arbitrate or until such earlier time as the court specifies.

If an application has been made to a court of competent jurisdiction, whether in this State or not, for an order to arbitrate a controversy which is an issue involved in an action or proceeding pending before a court of this State and such application is undetermined, the court in which such action or proceeding is pending shall, upon motion of a party to such action or proceeding, stay the action or proceeding until the application for an order to arbitrate is determined and, if arbitration of such controversy is ordered, until an arbitration is had in accordance with the order to arbitrate or until such earlier time as the court specifies.

Thus, had Kho's claims been before a Superior Court, that Superior Court would have been required to stay the claims pending the outcome of the Petition to Compel Arbitration and pending any arbitration proceeding. There is absolutely no reason why the Labor Commissioner should not be bound by the same rules, especially given that the Berman hearing would be followed by the Superior Court action under Labor Code section 98.2. Berman hearings held pursuant to this section [Labor Code sect. 98] are to be "conducted in an informal setting preserving the rights of the parties." Even the Labor Commissioner's own Enforcement Manual acknowledges the lack of jurisdiction to hear wage claims governed by the Federal Arbitration Act, like in this case:

> 36.3 Federal Arbitration Act Restrictions. The first sentence of Labor Code § 229 provides that an agreement to arbitrate statutory wage claims will not deprive an employee of the right to resort to the Labor Commissioner or the courts to enforce a claim for unpaid wages. If, however, such an agreement is covered by the provisions of the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA"), 9 U.S.C. § 1 et seq., then the first sentence of section 229 is preempted and cannot be

invoked by the employee. (*Perry v. Thomas* (1987) 482 U.S. 483.) ...

36.3.1 An agreement covered by the FAA will displace the provisions of the first sentence of section 229 only if the statutory claim for unpaid wages is subject to arbitration under the terms of the arbitration clause contained in the agreement. (*Gilmer v. Interstate/ Johnson Lane Corp.* (1991) 500 U.S. 20). Thus, an examination of the arbitration clause must be made in order to determine its scope and coverage with respect to the specific claim.

(Division of Labor Standards Enforcement, <u>Enforcement Policies and</u> <u>Interpretations Manual</u> §§ 36.3 and 36.3.1.)

Instead of following its own rules regarding the jurisdiction of the Labor Commissioner where there is an agreement to arbitrate, the Labor Commissioner simply pushed forward and held a trial (Berman Hearing) and issued a decision awarding unpaid wages to the claimant without even examining the arbitration agreement itself or allowing the Superior Court to first do so. The law requires a Superior Court to wait until the issue of arbitration is decided, why should the Labor Commissioner have the right to trample the rights of arbitration and proceed forward? It should not.

CONCLUSION

Despite their failure to proffer evidence necessary for the superior court to conduct a fact-specific inquiry necessary to support the opposing party's burden of proof on a defense of unconscionability in light of <u>Sonic II</u>, Kho and the Labor Commissioner ask this Court to review the *same* arbitration clause that gave rise to <u>Sonic II</u>, for the purpose of establishing a rule that any arbitration agreement that provides for waiver of a Berman hearing in favor of an arbitration procedure resembling civil

litigation is substantively unconscionable. In the absence evidence to support this fact-specific inquiry, this Court refused to undertake such an analysis in <u>Sonic II</u>. Likewise, the Court should decline review in the present case.

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